
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Children and Families Advisory Panel 
 

Date and Time Wednesday 7th February 2024 at 2.00pm 
  
Place Chute Room, EII Court South, Winchetser 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website and 
available for repeat viewing, it may also be recorded and filmed by the press and 
public. Filming or recording is only permitted in the meeting room whilst the meeting is 
taking place so must stop when the meeting is either adjourned or closed.  Filming is 
not permitted elsewhere in the building at any time. Please see the Filming Protocol 
available on the County Council’s website. 

 
AGENDA 

  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 

any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to Part 3 Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members’ Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is 
discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with 
Paragraph 1.6 of the Code. Furthermore all Members with a Personal 
Interest in a matter being considered at the meeting should consider, 
having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 4 of the Code, whether such interest 
should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 5 of the 
Code, consider whether it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance 
with the Code.  
  

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
To agree the minutes of the previous meeting. 

  

Public Document Pack



4. DEPUTATIONS   
 
 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12. 

  
5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make. 

  
6. ANNUAL SAFEGUARDING REPORT - CHILDREN'S SERVICES 2022-

23  (Pages 7 - 22) 
 
 To receive a report from the Director of Children’s Services proving an 

overview of the Annual Safeguarding Report for 2022-23 following its 
submission to Cabinet on the 12 December 2023. 
  

7. GRADUATE ENTRY TRAINING SCHEME  (Pages 23 - 32) 
 
 To receive a report from the Director of Children’s Services providing an 

outline of the two-year Graduate Entry Training Scheme for newly 
qualified social workers joining Children’s Services. 
  

8. HOCKLEY HOUSE  (Pages 33 - 38) 
 
 To receive a presentation from the Director of Children’s Services 

providing an update on Hockley House Children’s Home. 
 

ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 
ABOUT THIS MEETING: 
The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 
wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance. 
 
County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses. 

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


 

1 
 

AT A MEETING of the Children and Families Advisory Panel of HAMPSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL held at the castle, Winchester on Wednesday 11th October 

2023 
 

Chairman: 
p Councillor Arun Mummalaneni 

 
a Councillor Ann Briggs    p Councillor Adam Jackman 
p Councillor Prad Bains    p Councillor Stephen Parker 
   Councillor Christopher Donnelly   p Councillor Louise Parker-Jones 
p Councillor Juliet Henderson   p Councillor Malcolm Wade 
  

34.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr Briggs. Cllr Broomfield was in attendance as 
the Conservative Group Deputy. 
  

35.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code. Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Personal interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they considered 
whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, 
Paragraph 5 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code.  
  

36.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting were agreed as a correct record. 
  

37.   DEPUTATIONS  
 
No deputations were received. 
  

38.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman had no announcements to make. 
  

39.   FOSTERING ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023  
 
The Children and Families Advisory Panel received a report from the Director of 
Children’s Services providing the annual report for 2022/23 for Fostering, 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

providing an overview of fostering activity, detailing statistical performance data, 
and highlighting some focus areas for 2023/2024. 
  
Members heard that the number of Hampshire’s overall fostering households 
increased by 11 2022 to 2023, with 49 new fostering households approved 
compared to 33 in the previous year. It was noted that 34 fostering households 
had deregistered however, and that a focus the coming year would be on the 
recruitment and retention of foster carers. Officers set out how The Hampshire 
Hives initiative had grown into a strong recruitment tool which would be central to 
this, and events such as a recent Fostering Family Day and a long service 
celebration have been well received. 
  
Members noted that the annual foster care survey results had shown that the 
majority of foster carers are satisfied with the support received from the fostering 
service. 
  
In response to questions members found that: 
• The most challenging placements are emergency placements were the child 

was not well known. 
• Joint team days have been set up for the Children in Care Teams to build 

relationships and facilitate handovers and leave cover. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the contents of this report are noted by the Children and Families Advisory 
Panel. 
  

40.   REFUGEE TEAM/UNACCOMPANIED ASYLUM SEEKING CHILDREN 
UPDATE  
 
The Children and Families Advisory Panel received a presentation from the 
Director of Children’s Services providing an update from the Refugee Team with 
a focus on Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC). 
  
Officers set out the detail of the National Transfer Scheme, which required local 
authorities to take UASC equal to 0.1% of their population. Hampshire’s 
mandated number was 281 and the authority currently had 274 children seeking 
asylum, with an additional 402 care leavers. 
  
Members heard that HCC was notified of small boat arrivals and given five days 
to place children, who then become ‘Looked After’ under Section 20 Children Act 
1989. Children also arrived ‘spontaneously’, which led to an age assessment 
and children and made ‘Looked After’ – HCC receives £114 per night. 
  
The Panel received an overview of the composition and role of the Specialist 
Refugee Teams, whose role had taken pressure off the Children in Care teams 
while providing specialist support. These teams worked closely with the Willow 
Team to complete trafficking and age assessments and explore risks in respect 
of exploitation and the Red Cross to locate and make contact with birth families. 
Members noted the therapeutic approach undertaken in recognition of the 
trauma these children have experienced. 

Page 4



 

3 
 

  
In response to questions members found that: 
• The CAMHS provided mental health support for UASC. 
• Young people have safety plans which can include elements such as high 

level supervision, removal of mobile phones or removing unaccompanied 
time to mitigate the risk of trafficking. UASC receive a trafficking and child 
protection investigation upon arrival, with staff assessing at the highest level 
before moving down as the risks are assessed. 

• UASC receive a Care Leave Personal Assistant from the age of 15 until 25 
and have Social Worker involvement until they turn 18. 

  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the Children and Families Advisory Panel note the update on the Refugee 
Team and Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children. 
  

41.   ANNUAL COMPLIMENTS, COMPLAINTS AND REPRESENTATIONS 
REPORT 2022/23  
 
The Children and Families Advisory Panel received a report from the Director of 
Children’s Services providing the annual compliments, complaints and 
representations report for 2022-23. 
  
Officers explained that the Children’s Act 1989 required local authorities with 
social services responsibilities to have a formal complaints procedure for 
Children’s Social Care. It was noted that the annual report was produced in line 
with national guidance and was designed to share information with members of 
the public. Although not required by the statutory guidance, the report also 
included corporate complaints pertaining to Children's Services. 
  
The Panel noted that the report also covered Hampshire County Council’s 
Children’s Services Directorate’s formal feedback and representations alongside 
the compliments and complaints formally recorded by the Children's Services 
Directorate’s Complaints Team. Members heard that, in addition to annual 
reporting, internal reporting takes place on a quarterly basis, with more regular 
monitoring reports for services issued on request to enable ongoing 
improvement. 
  
In response to questions members found that: 
• There was less direct contact from children then the directorate would like to 

see, however there was a vast number of methods for young people to feel 
their feedback had been given voice which were very difficult to accurately 
record. 

• An unreasonable contact policy existed to protect staff. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the Children and Families Advisory Panel note the contents of the Annual 
Compliments, Complaints and Representations Report for 2022/23. 
 
 

Page 5



 

4 
 

 
 
 
  
 Chairman, 7 February 2023 
 

Page 6



 
 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Report 
 
Panel: Children and Families Advisory Panel 

Date: 7 February 2024 

Title: Annual Safeguarding Report - Children's Services 2022-23 

Report From: Director of Children’s Services 

Contact name: Stuart Ashley, Director of Children’s Services 

Email: Stuart.ashley@hants.gov.uk 
 
Purpose of this Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Annual 

Safeguarding Report for 2022-23 to the Children and Families Advisory Panel 
following its submission to Cabinet on the 12 December 2023. 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
2. That the Children and Families Advisory Panel note the positive progress and 

continued consistently high performance with regards to safeguarding 
children in Hampshire. 
 

Executive Summary  
 

3. This report seeks to identify key national developments, summarises 
performance and activity levels, and details a number of key local 
developments and future priorities. The report mainly uses data from the 
financial year 2022/23 but supplements this with more recent data where it is 
useful to do so. 
 

4. The report provides assurance that whilst demand for children’s social care 
services continues to increase year on year, the response to the safeguarding 
of vulnerable children is both robust and timely. New and emerging risks to 
children are identified and addressed collaboratively with partners and the 
wider transformation of children’s social care will deliver a modern social work 
service fit for the future challenges over the next decade. 
 

Contextual information 
 

5. The Panel will recall the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services 
(ILACS) that, local authorities are subject to standard and short inspections 
depending on their previous Ofsted judgement. Inspections since the 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 
 

introduction of the ILACS: 
 

5.1. November 2018 - Hampshire was subject to a focused visit, inspecting 
children subject to a child protection plan, including the quality and impact of 
pre-proceedings intervention under the Public Law Outline (PLO). 
Hampshire had received a very positive letter from Ofsted following this visit. 
 

5.2. April and May 2019 - Hampshire was subject to a full ILACS inspection. 
Report to Council dated 15 July 2019 refers to this inspection. This 
inspection judged Hampshire to be outstanding overall and across the other 
three areas of judgement. 
 

5.3. November 2021 – Hampshire volunteered to pilot a new Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection (JTAI). The focus of this inspection was multi agency 
Safeguarding arrangements across all partners, working from initial contact 
through to a CIN/CP decision. The inspection involved inspectors from 
Ofsted, CQC (Care Quality Commission) and HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services). The 
partnership received a very positive outcome letter following this visit. 
 

5.4. February 2023 – Hampshire was subject to a focused visit, inspecting 
children in care. Hampshire received a very positive letter from Ofsted 
following this visit. There were only three improvement actions: 
The timeliness of initial and review health assessments for children. 
Independent reviewing officer workloads. 
The voice of the child in the corporate parenting comm. 
 

6. It is worth noting that each of these inspections were rooted in safeguarding 
and have fully tested Hampshire’s safeguarding practice, alongside testing 
the front door process within the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). 
 

Finance 
 
7. There are no financial recommendations in this report although the issue of 

the continued rise in cost (price) of placements for children in care in the 
independent sector, is a key pressure for the County Council. 
 

National Developments 
 
8. Child exploitation 

 
8.1. There are clear links between child exploitation and those children who are 

trafficked and/or that go missing. The term ‘exploitation’ includes the 
following risk areas: child sexual exploitation (CSE), online exploitation, 
criminal (CCE) exploitation, Modern Day Slavery and including local drug 
networks, county lines, drug related harm, knife crime and serious violence; 
as well as other forms of exploitation that involve coercion and control such 
as radicalisation and extremism; forced marriage, female genital mutilation. 

Page 8



 
 

Child exploitation work remains a significant area of activity. 
 

8.2. The Hampshire, Isle of Wight, Portsmouth & Southampton (HIPS) Child 
Exploitation Group is a strategic multi- agency group, covering the HIPS 
areas. The group developed the HIPS Child Exploitation Strategy, which 
sets out how all agencies will work together to ensure the most effective and 
coordinated response to identify and protect children at risk of exploitation 
both within and across the HIPS Local Safeguarding Children Partnership 
(LSCP) areas. 
 

8.3. A HIPS Operational Child Exploitation Group provides strong operational 
links and dissemination routes in and out of the strategic group, and links 
into Hampshire district led Missing Exploited and Trafficked (MET) 
operational subgroups. These ensure the identification, support, 
safeguarding and diversion of children who are at risk of, or being exploited 
within Hampshire’s districts. 
 

8.4. The latest available data for children who go missing in Hampshire, be that 
from home or for those in care, shows an increase in children going missing 
as well as an escalation in the number of missing episodes. There remains a 
robust and effective response from CSD and Hampshire Constabulary. 
Hampshire CSD have employed two specialist workers (based in Willow) 
who monitor missing children on a daily and weekly basis and work with 
district teams to ensure appropriate safeguards are in place to prevent 
repeat occurrences, they support return conversations and monitor the most 
frequent and at-risk missing children. Hampshire Constabulary, as part of a 
restructure, have set up a new team to address and find high risk missing 
children and adults. This is an important area of work and one that Ofsted 
gives significant scrutiny to. 
 

8.5. County lines and local drug networks remain an increasing concern for 
Hampshire Children’s Services. All agencies and professionals contribute to 
tackling this form of exploitation, with more specialist work being undertaken 
by the Hampshire Police MET Team and the Hampshire Children’s Services 
specialist Willow Team. Willow is a multi-agency team consisting of 
specialist social workers, CFSWs, health professionals and Catch 22 
substance misuse workers who all work closely with Hampshire 
Constabulary to protect the highest risk children.  
 

8.6. Willow strives to be innovative and has won tenders for a Young Women & 
Girls Worker and has set up a devolved decision-making pilot for referrals 
coming into the National Referral Mechanism. Together with Hampshire 
Constabulary there is a coordinated deployment of these specialist 
resources to identify networks, ensuring the safeguarding of the most 
vulnerable children and the disruption of drug distribution activity. 
 

Performance and Activity Levels 
 

Page 9



 
 

9. Workloads, as evidenced in contacts, referrals and safeguarding activity, 
continue to be high with 11,517 cases open to Children’s Social Care as at 
the end of June 2023. The table below sets out the trends over the last five 
years including the source of referrals received via the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH). 
 

10. Contacts and referrals 
 

10.1. The total number of contacts as at 31 March 2023 (170,200) is 11% higher 
than the total received at 31 March 2022 (153,033). This is indicative of the 
continuing pressures across the child protection system which is reflected 
nationally. With schools reopened, education has retaken its traditional 
position as highest referrer at 30.61%, with police in second highest referrer 
position (21.62%). These percentages have remained fairly consistent over 
the last three years. Note, as indicated by * in the table, the source of the 
referral is collated only for those referrals that require assessment hence the 
numerical discrepancy. 
 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 Contact and 
Referrals Denom Value Denom Value Denom Value Denom Value Denom Value 

Number of 
initial 

contacts 
  117188   125413   126153   153033 

 
170200 

Number of 
referrals   40014   44434   48826   60761 

 
62952 

Referral 
source*: 

Individual 
1906 10.40% 2303 11.39% 2484 11.41% 2694 9.67% 2987 9.64% 

Education 4432 24.10% 5007 24.76% 4230 19.43% 7468 26.82% 9482 30.61% 
Health 

Services 3063 16.60% 3656 18.08% 4259 19.57% 5101 18.32% 5800 18.72% 

Housing 188 1.00% 248 1.23% 181 0.83% 255 0.92% 240 0.77% 
Local 

Authority 
Services 

1661 9.00% 1600 7.91% 1856 8.53% 1980 7.11% 2110 6.81% 

Police 4559 24.80% 4585 22.68% 5803 26.66% 6958 24.99% 6698 21.62% 

Other legal 
agency 593 3.20% 696 3.44% 884 4.06% 1087 3.90% 1300 4.20% 

Other 1248 6.80% 1262 6.24% 1166 5.36% 1418 5.09% 1480 4.78% 
Anonymous 495 2.70% 531 2.63% 643 2.95% 633 2.27% 622 2.01% 

Unknown 263 1.40% 332 1.64% 2 0.01% 2 0.01% 0 0.00% 
Not 

recorded 0 0.00% 0 0.00% 258 1.19% 252 0.90% 260 0.84% 

 
11. Section 47 (child protection) investigations and assessments 

 

Page 10



 
 

Section 47 
and 

Assessments 
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

% of S47 
going to 

conference 
4317 40.60% 5035 31.40% 6048 28.01% 7948 20.55% 8439 19.54% 

Assessment 
Timeliness 18003 90.90% 19712 92.61% 15924 95.30% 21188 95.90% 22166 95.10% 

 
11.1. With regards to assessments, as can be seen in the table above, the 

percentage of child protection investigations (section 47 investigations) 
which progress to an initial child protection conference over a year, has 
reduced slightly in comparison to 2021-22 although the number of 
investigations has increased. We remain satisfied with the consistent 
application of thresholds both within MASH and in districts teams which has 
been endorsed by the positive inspection by Ofsted less than a year ago. 
We are confident through our quality assurance and performance work that 
cases requiring an Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC) are 
appropriately progressed. 
 

11.2. The timeliness of completing a Child and Family Assessment (C&FA) since 
their introduction in 2014-15, is a very positive picture given the large 
number of assessments undertaken over the last year. This has not fallen 
from the 90s for the last four years and is higher than the majority of other 
local authorities in the region. 
 

12. Child Protection Plans (CPP) 
 

12.1. As detailed above, work within the child protection planning process 
remains robust with numbers showing a decline from the end of March 
2018, but an increase more recently due to the Covid pandemic. The 
previous positive reduction was considered to be as a result of more 
effective interventions with children and families at the Child in Need level, 
meaning less cases are escalated to a child protection plan because risks 
are addressed earlier. The increase is as a result of additional pressures on 
families as a result of Covid 19 due to the withdrawal of some services and 
leading to an increase in the complexity of cases and the cost of living crisis. 
 

12.2. The number of children subject to a plan for neglect remains in the 50-70 
percent (although a word of caution in that categorisation between neglect 
and emotional abuse can be variable, and neglect while present may not be 
the main presenting factor). Hampshire Safeguarding Children Partnership 
(HSCP) launched its Neglect Strategy in October 2016 and again in 2021, 
and this continues to help professionals better identify neglect. 
 

12.3. A low percentage of child protection plans are lasting beyond two years 
(which is good as it indicates proactive work) and relatively few require a 
repeat plan within two years. The number of timely visits made within the 

Page 11



 
 

required dates remains a significant strength of the service and reinforces 
that children are being seen and kept safe. 
 

13.  Full Time Children Looked After (CLA) 
 

Full Time 
Children 
Looked 

After 
(CLA) 

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

No of full 
time CLA 1339 1305 1440 1592 1664 1602 1656 1725 1855 

 
13.1. With regards to children in care, the number has increased by 130 (7.5%) 

over the last 12 months, however this is due to an increase in 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). There are 1,619 CLA 
when we exclude UASC. UASC now make up 12.9% (239) of the total 
cohort, whereas 18 months ago in March 2022 this was around 6% (106) of 
the cohort. It should be noted that the ability to keep children safely at home 
through high quality social work practice has meant that the underlying trend 
of CLA has remained broadly static.  
 

 
 

13.2. The financial cost of CLA is significantly affecting the financial challenges 
the Council is facing. 

Jan-22, 
1716

Jun-23, 
1855

Jan-22, 
1613

Jun-23, 
1621

1400

1500

1600

1700

1800

1900

Jan
-22

Fe
b-22

Mar-
22

Apr-2
2

May
-22

Jun-22
Jul-2

2

Aug-2
2

Se
p-22

Oct-
22

Nov-2
2

Dec-2
2

Jan
-23

Fe
b-23

Mar-
23

Apr-2
3

May
-23

Jun-23

Total LAC LAC ex UASC Linear (Total LAC) Linear (LAC ex UASC)

HCC 18 Month LAC Trend

Page 12



 
 

  
Apr-
Jun 
2020 

Jul-
Sep 
2020 

Oct-
Dec 
2020 

Jan-
Mar 
2021 

Apr-
Jun 
2021 

Jul-
Sep 
2021 

Oct-
Dec 
2021 

Jan-
Mar 
2022 

Apr-
Jun 
2022 

Jul-
Sep 
2022 

Oct-
Dec 
2022 

Jan-
Mar 
2023 

Apr-
Jun 
2023 

Entering full 
time care 158 166 152 157 156 155 192 136 173 191 182 195 151 

Leaving full 
time care 107 136 184 139 176 134 147 113 154 141 160 148 147 

Net 
increase 51 30 -32 18 -20 21 45 23 19 50 22 47 4 

Of those 
new into 
care 
children 
PwP 

25 23 24 27 20 13 16 8 5 24 27 25 17 

Of those 
new UASC  0 20 4 7 3 7 46 18 49 45 65 35 7 

 
13.3.  It should be noted that there is of course significant churn throughout the 

year of the children in care population. Nationally the picture of demand 
continues to outstrip the supply of placements for children in care, and the 
costs of placements are rising significantly. The increasing complexity of the 
children coming into the care system has meant additional costs associated 
with their placements. There is no doubt that the paucity of mental health 
services for some children has led to them coming into the care system. The 
costs (or more accurately, the price) of those placements continue to rise 
year on year. Significant work is carried out by our Placement 
Commissioning team (such as working through framework contracts and 
contract specification) to ensure that Hampshire achieves the best value that 
it can in what is an ‘overheated’ market. 
 

14. Hampshire UASC Arrivals 
 

14.1. As at 30 June 2023 the total number of UASC (under 18 years) looked 
after by Hampshire is 227. (NB the figure as at October stands at over 284.) 

 
Apr-
Jun 

Jul-
Sep  

Oct-
Dec 

Jan-
Mar 

Apr-
Jun 

Jul-
Sep 

Oct-
Dec 

Jan-
Mar 

Apr-
Jun 

Jul-
Sep 

Oct-
Dec 

Jan-
Mar 

Apr -
Jun  UASC 

Arrivals 
2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 

Quarterly 
Data 0 18 4 7 3 7 46 18 49 46 65 35 7 

 
Apr-
Jun 

Jul-
Sep  

Oct-
Dec 

Jan-
Mar 

Apr-
Jun 

Jul-
Sep 

Oct-
Dec 

Jan-
Mar 

Apr-
Jun 

Jul-
Sep 

Oct-
Dec 

Jan-
Mar 

Apr-
Jun UASC 

Care 
Leavers 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022 2022 2023 2023 
Period 
End 335 341 347 363 365 369 402 417 423 438 493 552 568 

 

Page 13



 
 

14.2. The table above shows the number of UASC Care Leavers at each period 
end. There has been a 69.6% increase in the number of UASC care leavers 
since June 2020 (233), which is to be expected given the age demographic 
of UASC arrivals with an average age of 17 years. 
 

14.3. Since July 2016, Hampshire has been proactive in the National Transfer 
Scheme (NTS). The scheme became mandatory for Local Authority’s in 
April 2021, with an expectation that we accept 0.1% of the total child 
population; for Hampshire, this totals 281. Hampshire continues to adopt a 
proactive, forward-leaning approach to receiving children through the 
scheme and responding to need. This has led to a review of the working 
practices, most notably, the creation of two Refugee Teams in February 
2023. The Refugee Teams have been receiving case allocations from NTS 
and ‘spontaneous arrivals’ from around the county. Running in parallel with 
the recruitment of practitioners, the Teams have been transferring cases 
from district teams, a process which is nearing its conclusion.  
 

14.4. In June 2023, our care extended to 225 separated children (U18) in 
Hampshire and 389 care leavers. 
 

14.5. The majority of the children are placed in independent fostering agency 
(IFA) placements and a significant number are placed outside of Hampshire, 
in order that we can better meet their cultural and individual needs. The age 
range is from 11 years old and the significant majority are males. They will 
need to be looked after by the local authority until they reach 18 years and 
will then have care leaver status with continuing support from the local 
authority until they are 25 years of age. Whilst the Home Office provide set 
funding for UASC, an Association of Directors of Children’s Services report 
evidenced that the funding only covers 50% of the actual costs to the local 
authority. It should also be noted that around 30% of UASC will not be given 
leave to remain in the UK and as such will have ‘no recourse to public funds’ 
requiring the local authority to entirely fund all of their living costs until they 
reach 25 years of age. 
 

14.6. Given the rise in activity in respect of UASC a specialist UASC team has 
been set up, specifically to support UASC and former care leaver UASC in 
Hampshire. 
 

Consultation and Equalities 
 
15. There is no adverse impact on equalities and no consultation is required. 

 
Other Key Issues 

 
16. Recruitment and retention 

 
16.1. The recruitment and retention of social workers continues to be a key 

issue. This is a national challenge which is particularly acute in the South 

Page 14



 
 

East region. 
 

16.2. The retention of children’s social workers is a significant challenge for 
Hampshire as it is all local authorities and can undermine the work being 
undertaken to bring new staff into the service. In the last 12 months, 
turnover amongst children’s social workers has stabilised from an increase 
in the previous 12 months, remaining at 20.6%. This challenge is shared by 
other local authorities and reflects changes in the wider recruitment market 
following the pandemic. 
 

16.3. The Independent Review of Children’s Social Care has afforded us the 
opportunity to employ and use alternatively qualified professionals to 
support children and families. We have introduced the role of Family 
Practitioners who are differently qualified case-holding professionals in our 
statutory teams. We have had some success in recruiting differently 
qualified professionals, as evidenced with the Intensive Workers. This 
change will increase the capacity of our Qualified Social Workers across our 
teams. 
 

16.4. There is a proactive recruitment strategy in place which utilises a positive 
partnership with Community Care, through regular national and local 
marketing targeted campaigns and advertisements. This is alongside events 
such as Social Work in the South, and Community Care Live. 
 

16.5. We are focussing on direct recruitment of graduates from universities to our 
highly regarded newly qualified social worker programme, utilising the 
National Step Up to Social Work Programme and over the last three years 
have successfully supported staff through the Social Work Apprentice 
programme, with the first cohort graduating in August 2022. When this 
scheme began it was fairly unique, but most local authorities now offer 
similar schemes, which means it is now more difficult to recruit to cohorts.  
 

16.6. Given the challenges in recruitment and retention, there is a need to be 
more ambitious in growing our own social workers. There is a range of 
highly skilled and experienced differently qualified workers currently 
employed within the department. We have increased our intake to the 
apprentice scheme from 10 to 30 per year. 
 

16.7. We have increased our activity in overseas recruitment utilising an 
employment agency to assist in the recruitment of 25 social workers over 
the last year and a further 25 over the coming year.   
 

17. Transforming Social Care (TSC) in Hampshire 
 

17.1. Safeguarding Reports have provided an overview of what has TSC has 
achieved within phases 1 and 2.  
 

17.2. TSC phase 3 has supported the delivery of a new system to improve the 
quality and consistency of Personal Education Plans (PEPs), and has 

Page 15



 
 

undertaken several service reviews, including: Family Time Service, Virtual 
School, Virtual College, Volunteers Service and completed a project with the 
Family Connections Service.   
 

17.3. TSC is focusing resource on a range of workstreams, including extending 
the scope and range of services delivered through the Family Help model, 
continuing the development of the Specialist Intensive Worker Hubs, and to 
ensure we are providing efficient and effective support to meet the needs of 
Children with Disabilities. 
  

17.4. Responding to the recommendations outlined in the Care Review, TSC is 
leading on the development of the new Family Help model. Family Help will 
bring together a range of services, delivered within the community, to 
families across both targeted early help and children in need. The new 
model is set to launch in January 2024. Further detail on this transformation 
project can be seen below: 

 
Family Help 
 
17.5. A key element within The Independent Review of Children's Social Care, 

and supported in the government paper ‘Stable Homes, Built on Love’, was 
the introduction of the 'Family Help' model. This model brings together a 
range of services delivered to families across both targeted early help and 
children in need.  
 

17.6. The vision for Family Help is for new local, community-based teams. These 
teams will be sited within the community they support which will enable and 
facilitate easier and quicker access to services, therefore meeting the 
family’s needs as early as possible.   
 

17.7. For Hampshire this initially means that our Family Support Service and 
Childrens Assessment and Safeguarding Teams will be brought together. 
The new Family Help model will be implemented in Hampshire from January 
2024. 
 
Hampshire’s model is being developed within a phased and iterative 
approach:   
Phase 1.1 – The introduction in January 2023 of a new differently qualified 
case holding role, that of the Family Practitioner. These workers have 
initially been recruited in CAST and will transition into the new Family Help 
teams in January 2024.  
Phase 1.2 - Has focused on the development of Family Help teams; there 
will be 34 in total, each geographically sited to cover specific wards within 
districts. The aligned of these teams within specific areas will enable the 
delivery of local support as prescribed in the government paper 'Stable 
Homes Built on Love’.  
 

17.8. The vision is to further develop the model and to bring other social care 
teams and services together into wider Family Help service, creating a 

Page 16



 
 

seamless journey for families as their needs and levels of risks change.  
 

17.9. The new model is being developed on the basis that there will be positive 
impacts and outcomes for children and their families: 
• More children remain safely at home. 
• Families will receive the right support, by the right professional for the 

right amount of time. 
• Families will experience fewer transition points with professionals 

‘stepping into’ a family as needs require rather than moving a family 
onto a new team or service. 

• Families will be able to access services more easily as they will be 
within their local community, ultimately delivered through community 
hubs with partners which will facilitate the de-stigmatisation of families 
seeking support. 

 
18. Youth Justice Service  

 
18.1. During the last year Hampshire Youth Justice Service (HYJS) has 

continued to deliver youth justice and youth crime prevention to the children 
of Hampshire. 
 

18.2. Progress against last year’s plan is as follows: 
• Developing further the participation of children in our service. 
• Ensuring all staff have an awareness of the actions they need to take to 

address any disproportionate representation of children from other minority 
ethnic groups.  

• Reducing the number of first-time entrants to the criminal justice system to 
its lowest point ever.  

• Developed practice in relation to the assessment of risk of harm to others. 
 

19. The delivery plan for 2023/24 includes:  
• Continuing to build on progress this year in the participation of children in 

Youth Justice. 
• In partnership, tackling serious youth violence. 
• Continuing to develop Youth Diversionary activity.  
• Widen our work on disproportionality to include other diverse groups. 

 
20. Sector Led Improvement 

 
20.1. For many years, Hampshire has a strong reputation for being a leading 

provider of sector led social work improvement, support and advice to other 
local authorities across the region, nationally and internationally.  This work 
is commissioned from three main sources. Hampshire successfully bid to be 
a part of the Department for Education’s Sector Led Improvement 
Programme (SLIP) from 2021-24, one of a handful of local authorities 
nationally providing social work improvement advice and expertise. Our 
SLIP work over this past year has supported improvement in several 
authorities including Buckinghamshire, West Sussex, Southampton (all of 

Page 17



 
 

whom now have improved Ofsted inspection ratings), Reading and 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP). Secondly. Hampshire co-
ordinates and leads the sector led improvement peer support improvement 
work through the South East Sector Led Improvement Partnership 
(SESLIP), comprising all nineteen authorities in the south east. In addition to 
the SLIP and SESLIP work, Hampshire has continued to work with the 
Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) to undertake 
some specific social work improvement support with the British Overseas 
Territories. Currently this work is ongoing with St Helena, Ascension Island 
and Tristan da Cunha.  
 

20.2. Given the increased demand in Hampshire Children’s Services which 
reflects the increase nationally, careful consideration will need to be given to 
our future support of other Local Authorities to ensure that it does not 
adversely impact on the children of Hampshire. A small central team of 
social work managers has been established with the income from this work, 
to support capacity in this area. As with all work undertaken in other 
authorities, there is always positive learning gained to further improve 
services in Hampshire. The benefits to Hampshire are significant and enable 
both staff and services in Hampshire to be continuously improved. Ofsted 
commented in 2019 that, ‘Leaders recognise the benefits that come from 
being an improvement partner, not only in creating income, but also in the 
learning that is gained from other local authorities and from keeping its own 
staff stimulated and stretched’. 
 

Future Challenges and Operational Priorities 
 
21. The future challenges and priorities can be summarised as follows (this is not 

an exhaustive list and the history of this type of work is that new priorities will 
continue to emerge in much the same as child exploitation and county lines): 
 

21.1. The full long-term impact of the pandemic is not yet known. Children’s 
social care have seen a sustained increase in referrals over the last 2 years 
of over 30% compared to pre-pandemic levels. It is not yet known how long 
that will continue but experience shows us this might now be the new normal 
level of demand going forward. At this stage the increase in demand has not 
led to a similar increase in the numbers of children coming into care due to 
the effective practice of our front-line staff and the success of our 
transformation activity. 
 

21.2. The costs associated with the placements for looked after children will 
continue to be a significant pressure for the County Council. Significant 
additional corporate funding has already been given to the department, but 
as demand increases and the supply of placements comes under further 
pressure, inevitably costs will rise. Our Modernising Placements Programme 
aims to increase our numbers of Hampshire County Council foster carers, 
thereby reducing costs in the longer term. 
 

Page 18



 
 

21.3. It should be noted that the challenges faced within the placement market 
are significant. There are well acknowledged shortfalls in available beds 
both within the secure welfare estate and in Tier 4 psychiatric provision 
which compound the issue for social care. In terms of residential provision, 
demand is outstripping current supply which is resulting in escalating pricing 
and providers able to select from a multitude of referrals for each available 
bed, with a local provider referencing over 100 referrals per available bed. 
The Competitions and Market Authority report identifies the inflated profit 
margins within external placement suppliers. Hampshire is fortunate to have 
in house provision, which regularly supports the most hard to place young 
people but the placements issue remains a significant challenge. 
 

21.4. It is essential that our transformation work continues at pace to keep more 
children at home, where it is safe and appropriate to do so. Transforming 
children’s social care will deliver a modern social work service fit for the 
future challenges over the next decade. Where children do come into care, 
our Modernising Placements Programme, will ensure children have the right 
placement to meet their needs. 
 

21.5. Child exploitation, in all its forms, continues to be an increasing area of 
work, particularly the ‘County Lines’ issues. Although Hampshire is well 
placed to meet these challenges, it is important that we remain vigilant and 
responsive, working in tandem with partners to protect children. 
 

21.6. The recruitment and retention of social workers will continue to need to be 
addressed. 
 

Climate Change Impact Assessment 
 

22. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These 
tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does. 
 

23. Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation. The carbon mitigation and 
climate change adaptation tools were not applicable because this report is to 
provide details of Children’s Services safeguarding activity and does not 
recommend changes or require any decisions which would have any climate 
change considerations. However, this does link to other strategic priorities as 
listed in the relevant section at the end of the document. Children’s Services 
are aware of the importance of climate change and plan for this in new 
projects. 
 

24. Carbon Mitigation. The carbon mitigation and climate change adaptation 
tools were not applicable because this report is to provide details of the 
contribution of Children’s Services safeguarding activity and does not 

Page 19



 
 

recommend changes or require any decisions which would have any climate 
change considerations. This report is not relevant as above. Children’s 
Services regularly feedback to the Corporate Climate Change Action Plan. 
 

Conclusions 
 
25. Throughout 2022/23 there continued to be a highly effective strategic 

response to the safeguarding of vulnerable children and a robust operational 
response, tested via external validation from the Ofsted inspection in 
November 2021 and February 2022. 

 
 
  

Page 20



 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
Links to the Strategic Plan 

 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

Yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

Yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

Yes 

 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 
 

Page 21



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
This report is for the Children and Families Advisory Panel to note Hampshire 
County Council’s progress and performance with regards to safeguarding 
vulnerable children. As such it creates no disadvantage or inequality and the 
activity described serves to reduce inequality for some of the county’s most 
vulnerable children. 

Page 22



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Report  
 
Panel: Children and Families Advisory Panel 

Date: 7 February 2024 

Title: Graduate Entry Training Scheme 

Report From: Director of Children’s Services 

Contact name: Gemma Durrant, Head of Learning & Development 

Email: Gemma.Durrant@hants.gov.uk 
 
Purpose of this Report 

 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Children and Families Advisory 

Panel with an updated outline of the two-year Graduate Entry Training 
Scheme (GETS) for newly qualified social workers joining Children’s Services 
and to highlight a change in the allocation of shadowing days required given 
recent new initiatives in the service. 
 

Recommendation 
 
2. That the Children and Families Advisory Panel note the contents of this 

report. 
 

Executive Summary 
 

3. This report seeks to present an update on the first two years of learning and 
development for newly qualified social workers joining Children’s Services as 
part of the Graduate Entry Training Scheme (GETS). 
 

4. Given the recent changes in the development of the service including the 
move towards the Family Help model and a greater desire for awareness and 
integration between all elements of the service there have been changes to 
the programme to ensure awareness of all service areas is covered during 
the two year training programme. 
 

Contextual information 
 
5. The Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE) is an employer-

led induction programme for Newly Qualified Social Workers during their first 
year of employment. It is a Department of Education programme which is 
currently overseen by Skills for Care. 
 

6. In Hampshire Childrens Services, the programme was launched as the 
Graduate Entry Training Scheme (GETS) and has been in place since August 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



2017. During the past six years, 374 newly qualified social workers (NQSW’s) 
have successfully completed the programme. Between March 2022 to August 
2023, we received 393 applications and interviewed 169 NQSWs, with 75% of 
applications coming from regional universities. 
 

7. Following the introduction of GETS in August 2017, the Consolidation and 
Reflection Programme (CRP) was developed and implemented in 2018 as the 
second year of GETS, commencing once a Social Worker has completed 
their ASYE.  Although CRP was updated throughout its four years, in August 
2022 the programme was revamped and rebranded to become the 
Professional Development Year (PDY) with an approach centred around a 
more individualised learning plan with a deliberate strategy of placing more of 
the ownership for their own learning on the individual and marking a change 
in the amount and level of support provided by Learning & Development and 
their Practice Educator. 
 

8. The GETS is now a two-year programme designed to support NQSW’s 
joining Hampshire Childrens Services. It aims to build the skills and 
knowledge required to successfully complete the Assessed and Supported 
Year in Employment (ASYE) during the first year and the PDY during the 
second year. 
 

9. The Year 1 programme comprises a four-week induction of blended learning 
activities (see Appendix 1) followed by an induction into the District, controlled 
case load numbers, regular supervision from both Team Managers and 
Practice Educators, development days, direct observations and shadowing 
experiences. Each NQSW is required to complete a portfolio of evidence 
which is then assessed at the 12-month period leading to a final assessment 
of pass/fail. 
 

10. When the NQSW transfers to the District following their initial induction with 
Learning & Development, the first six month period is regarded as a 
secondment phase with the NQSW. Management responsibility falls to the 
Team Manager of the NQSW’s allocated team. During secondment the 
NQSW’s position is supernumerary to the team which allows the NQSW to 
have protected caseloads and learning and development time. 
 

11. Following successful completion of the first six-month period, and at the point 
where the post becomes substantive, there had previously been an 
opportunity for the NQSW to change teams (usually only happening because 
of exceptional circumstances). This ‘unique selling point’ had previously been 
advertised in the recruitment and marketing materials targeting NQSW’s. 
 

12. The six-month secondment phase had also provided the opportunity for 
Districts to go over-establishment with GETS workers prior to them gaining a 
permanent post at the six month point. 
 

13. Recently a decision was taken to withdraw the opportunity for a NQSW to 
change teams at the six-month point. As from September 1st 2023, the NQSW 
remains in the same team for the completion of the ASYE following the shift 

Page 24



from extra to establishment to permanent.   
 

14. The consequence of this means that unless a District has vacancies at the 
point at which the NQSW worker is first appointed, a District will not be able to 
take a GETS worker. 
 

15. During the first two weeks in District, an induction period should be planned 
by the TM/ATM/buddy in conjunction with the NQSW. During this period, it is 
not expected that the NQSW solo works or has an allocated case load. 
 

16. Following the two-week induction period into the District, NQSW’s will have a 
protected case load of up to 10 cases (children) until the three-month review 
and 15 cases (children) up to the 6 month review. 
 

17. For the remainder of the ASYE, the NQSW will be allocated up to 18 cases 
(children) which may go up to 20 during intake week. 
 

18. In the first 12 months, the NQSW is provided with 11 study days (protected 
time) to ensure completion of the portfolio. Further development days are 
provided over the course of the ASYE year including Court Skills Training 
(see Appendix 2 for full list) and there is an expectation that an ASYE must 
attend this training. 
 

19. During the ASYE, there is a requirement to undertake 5 shadowing days with 
other agencies and teams to include a day with MASH. 
 

20. Recently, it has been agreed to add a 6th shadowing experience with a 
requirement that the NQSW spends a day in a residential children’s home. 
  

21. A recent requirement from the Modernising Placements Programme work was 
also to require all NQSW’s undertake a shadowing day in Swanwick Lodge 
and one in the fostering service. 
 

22. Therefore, we will require NQSW’s to take their 6 shadowing days as follows: 
 

1 Day: MASH 
1 Day: Residential Children’s Home 
1 Day: Swanwick Lodge 
1 Day: Fostering Service 
2 Days: NQSW Free Choice (they can choose and organise where they spend 

this day; may include Police, Adoption, PCT, Willow, Refugee, 
CAST/CIC/DCT, YOT etc) 
 

23. Upon successful completion of the ASYE year, NQSW’s will progress onto 
the Professional Development Year (PDY). During this phase, they will 
complete Personal Development Plans (PDP) and undertake more in-depth 
consideration of key issues via peer groups and reflective circles. In year 2, 
during the first six months, caseloads should not exceed 20 and will be 
expected to increase to a maximum of 25 (in line with the expected caseload 
of other social workers) by the end of year 2. 
 

Page 25



24. As with year 1, there is a requirement for social workers in their PDY year to 
attend specific pieces of training (please see Appendix 3). 

 
25. At the end of year 2, a professional development plan is agreed between the 

Social Worker, Line Manager and Practice Educator which ensures ongoing 
continual professional development (CPD) into the workers third year in 
practice in line with Social Work England requirement.  

 
26. The GETS programme ends with a face to face Celebration Session to mark 

the achievements of the individuals and talk about their future career 
aspirations and development. Depending on their team they also receive a 
retention payment.  

 
27. Both parts of the programme (ASYE and PDY) are constantly being reviewed 

and updated in line with feedback to ensure the content meets the needs of 
the service.  
 

Finance 
 
28. There are no direct finance implications for this report. 

 
Performance 

 
29. By allocating some of the shadowing days to specific teams/services this will 

provide the NQSW’s with a greater understanding and alignment with those 
services and help improve the culture of working across Children & Families 
in line with our strategic objectives. 

 
Consultation and Equalities 
 
30. The GETS programme is inclusive and takes a bespoke approach to 

individual’s needs including advice and support on access to work, accessing 
staff networks.  
 

Climate Change Impact Assessment 
 

31. The carbon mitigation tool and/or climate change adaptation tool were not 
applicable because this report outlines a programme which is 
strategic/administrative in nature.  
 

Conclusions 
 
32. In conclusion, this paper explains the history of and current two-year GETS 

programme for NQSW’s coming into the service.  
 

33. It outlines that from the current 6 shadowing days 4 days are allocated to 
MASH, a Residential Children’s Home, Swanwick Lodge and the Fostering 
Service with the NQSW deciding where the remaining 2 days are spent. This 
balances the requirements of the organisation with some flexibility depending 
on the individual and their learning needs.  

  
Page 26



Appendix 1 – Example timetable for first 4-week Induction period 
 
Date  
Location    

15th January 
Castle Ave: 0.01 

Welcome to Hampshire & the Graduate Entry Training Scheme  

ASYE Introduction  16th January 
Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

Toolkit for Resilience: Session 1  

17th January  
Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

Home Visits & Analysis within Assessment  

eLearning – Safeguarding in the Childrens Workforce 
Intensive Team Worker briefing  
 18th January 

eLearning – Safeguarding in the Childrens Workforce 
Community Care Inform Orientation  

eLearning – Conflict & Challenging Behaviour 
Introduction to the Hampshire Approach  
 
eLearning – Introduction to the Hampshire Approach 

19th January  
Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

The Hampshire Approach Q&A  
 
Community Care Inform Habit of Learning : briefing  

22nd January Contextual Safeguarding  
 
CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 23rd January 

Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

Personal Safety at Work 

CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 
Neglect Strategy & Toolkit  
 24th January 

eLearning - MOSAIC 
CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 
Attachment Trauma & Resilience mapping  
 

25th January 
Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 Attending to Identity  

 
CCI Habit of Learning: Quiz  
Undertaking Pre-birth Assessments  
 26th January  

eLearning - MOSAIC 
CCI Habit of Learning : briefing  
Staff Networks briefing – various 
 
eLearning – MOSAIC & GDPR 

29th January  

Working in Partnership briefings 
Page 27



 
• Police – 13:30 – 14:30  
• Willow – 14:40 – 15:40  
• YOT – 15:50 – 16:50  

CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 30th January 
Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

Voice of the Child: A Virtual Reality Experience  

CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 
eLearning – Children Services Supervision  
GDPR briefing  
eLearning – The CARE Act 

31st January  

Adult Safeguarding briefing  
CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 1st February 

Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

Communicating & Engaging with Children and Young People  

CCI Habit of Learning: Quiz  
Understanding Section 47  
 

2nd February Working in Partnership briefings 
• Children in Care – 13:30 – 14:30  
• Fostering Service – 14:40 – 15:40  
• Residential Service – 15:50 – 16:50  

CCI Habit of Learning : briefing  
Preparation for the Deputy Director Q&A  5th February Welcome to Hampshire with Deputy Director Q&A  
 
CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 6th February 

Castle Ave: 
1.07 &1.08 

Preparation for Practice  

CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 
MOSAIC trainer led: session 1 
Research in Practice briefing (RIP)  
 

7th February 

eLearning – Baby Bruising Protocol 
CCI Habit of Learning: personal research 
Family Connection Service briefing  
 
eLearning 

8th February 

MOSAIC trainer led: session 2 
CCI Habit of Learning: Quiz  
MASH briefing  
 
Innovations volunteer briefing  
 

9th February 

Induction evaluation  
 
 

Page 28



Appendix 2  
 
Additional Training required during the ASYE Year (Year 1)  
 

• Introduction to Legal Processes 
• Engaging Fathers 
• Toolkit for Resilience: Session 2 
• Principle Social Worker Talk & Resilience session 
• Competency in Court Training; a blended module, with two development 

days, to be diarised by the NQSW which is for preparation of their SWET 
statement for mock court 

• Children in Care: Education - Making a difference 
 
 
Appendix 3 
 
Additional Training required during the Professional Development Year 

(Year 2) 
 

• Introduction to the Professional Development Year – SWAY 
• Identity and the Child’s Voice – Face to Face 
• The Impact of the Digital World - webinar 
• Supporting Children in Care – SWAY 
• Working with Resistance and Disguised Compliance – webinar 
• HSCP  - An introduction to recognising and responding to perpetrators of 

domestic abuse – eLearning 
• Peer Group Sessions – webinar 
• Other Training/Learning Opportunities 
• Celebration Session 

 
 

 
 

Page 29



 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

Yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

Yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

No 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

Yes 

 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 
 

Page 30



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 
Equality Duty 

 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

 
Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that 
characteristic; 

- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it; 

- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

 
Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Hockley House

Childrens and Families Advisory Panel

February 2024

P
age 33

A
genda Item

 8



Context

The specific problem was to:

• Establish an innovative approach to reduce the number of children needing care over time;

• Ensuring sufficient provision for children with more complex needs; and

• Increase placement choice and support better matching of young people

What was the problem we needed to address?

An existing set of semi-detached properties re-developed into accommodation for three young people with complex behavioural and mental health needs; Hockley House.

Hockley House will meet the needs of an identified cohort of young people for whom placement stability has been a challenge due to group matching considerations. 
Accommodating three self-contained bedrooms, each room has been carefully planned to maximise independence and life skills. The home will also have a communal family 
kitchen, dining area and outdoor spaces.

Hockley House is a new and innovative home that will enable children to have a local intensive therapeutic provision whilst also enabling the children to maintain family and 
community networks, with the ultimate goal of the young person being supported back home, another placement or into more independent living. 

Hockley House will be funded and run as a multi-agency provision between Childrens Social Care and Health and will also provide a Structured Activity Service. 

Our answer to the problemP
age 34



Delays due to building and survey results has complicated some contractual negotiations, however nearly all issues are now resolved. The 
most significant factor in further delays in the requirement of Ofsted registration. Expectation is to open early Summer 2024.

Additional environmental work to design out risks, to ensure robust safeguarding measures are in place. 

Visits to Hockley House undertaken by stakeholders including children, to involve the input from all services as to how the home will be 
operationally run to support flexibility in the required care for the cohort of children. These focused visits have enabled refinements to be 
made to the interior of the home and the processes and procedures, to ensure the safety and wellbeing of the children. 

Multi agency in person workshops undertaken to refine the referral process,  governance panel for decision making, transition planning and 
escalation. Children and young people have been continuously consulted throughout and their feedback has been used in respect of colour 
schemes within the home and interior design features. Views have also been gained on what is important to our children when living in a 
residential environment. 

Multi agency profiling of prospective cohort which is reflected within Hockley’s Statement of Purpose.

Multi-disciplinary workshops continued to develop working protocols and how Hockley House provision will meet the needs of the cohort 
of children with measurable outcomes. 

Our journey to date

P
age 35



Spring/Summer 2023 Autumn/Winter/Spring 
2023/24

Early Summer 2024

• Design Phase

• Define Structured 
Activity Service

• Financing

• Children Consultation 
events

• Multi agency Workshops

• Onboarding Phase

• Recruitment

• Legal contracts

• Registration

• Training

• Outreach with 
supporting services

• Recording systems

• Policies

• Placement planning

• Go live

• Induction 

• Opening of the home

• Transition of young 
people 

Delay to building 
completion  

Building works (complete January 2024) Completion and opening  

CCBS & Capital managed elements

Timelines

P
age 36



Questions

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for assistance.

	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Annual Safeguarding Report - Children's Services 2022-23
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Annual Safeguarding Report for 2022-23 to the Children and Families Advisory Panel following its submission to Cabinet on the 12 December 2023.
	Recommendation(s)
	2.	That the Children and Families Advisory Panel note the positive progress and continued consistently high performance with regards to safeguarding children in Hampshire.
	Executive Summary
	3.	This report seeks to identify key national developments, summarises performance and activity levels, and details a number of key local developments and future priorities. The report mainly uses data from the financial year 2022/23 but supplements this with more recent data where it is useful to do so.
	4.	The report provides assurance that whilst demand for children’s social care services continues to increase year on year, the response to the safeguarding of vulnerable children is both robust and timely. New and emerging risks to children are identified and addressed collaboratively with partners and the wider transformation of children’s social care will deliver a modern social work service fit for the future challenges over the next decade.
	Contextual information
	5.	The Panel will recall the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) that, local authorities are subject to standard and short inspections depending on their previous Ofsted judgement. Inspections since the introduction of the ILACS:
	5.1.	November 2018 - Hampshire was subject to a focused visit, inspecting children subject to a child protection plan, including the quality and impact of pre-proceedings intervention under the Public Law Outline (PLO). Hampshire had received a very positive letter from Ofsted following this visit.
	5.2.	April and May 2019 - Hampshire was subject to a full ILACS inspection. Report to Council dated 15 July 2019 refers to this inspection. This inspection judged Hampshire to be outstanding overall and across the other three areas of judgement.
	5.3.	November 2021 – Hampshire volunteered to pilot a new Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI). The focus of this inspection was multi agency Safeguarding arrangements across all partners, working from initial contact through to a CIN/CP decision. The inspection involved inspectors from Ofsted, CQC (Care Quality Commission) and HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services). The partnership received a very positive outcome letter following this visit.
	5.4.	February 2023 – Hampshire was subject to a focused visit, inspecting children in care. Hampshire received a very positive letter from Ofsted following this visit. There were only three improvement actions:
	The timeliness of initial and review health assessments for children.
	Independent reviewing officer workloads.
	The voice of the child in the corporate parenting comm.

	6.	It is worth noting that each of these inspections were rooted in safeguarding and have fully tested Hampshire’s safeguarding practice, alongside testing the front door process within the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).
	Finance
	7.	There are no financial recommendations in this report although the issue of the continued rise in cost (price) of placements for children in care in the independent sector, is a key pressure for the County Council.
	National Developments
	8.	Child exploitation
	8.1.	There are clear links between child exploitation and those children who are trafficked and/or that go missing. The term ‘exploitation’ includes the following risk areas: child sexual exploitation (CSE), online exploitation, criminal (CCE) exploitation, Modern Day Slavery and including local drug networks, county lines, drug related harm, knife crime and serious violence; as well as other forms of exploitation that involve coercion and control such as radicalisation and extremism; forced marriage, female genital mutilation. Child exploitation work remains a significant area of activity.
	8.2.	The Hampshire, Isle of Wight, Portsmouth & Southampton (HIPS) Child Exploitation Group is a strategic multi- agency group, covering the HIPS areas. The group developed the HIPS Child Exploitation Strategy, which sets out how all agencies will work together to ensure the most effective and coordinated response to identify and protect children at risk of exploitation both within and across the HIPS Local Safeguarding Children Partnership (LSCP) areas.
	8.3.	A HIPS Operational Child Exploitation Group provides strong operational links and dissemination routes in and out of the strategic group, and links into Hampshire district led Missing Exploited and Trafficked (MET) operational subgroups. These ensure the identification, support, safeguarding and diversion of children who are at risk of, or being exploited within Hampshire’s districts.
	8.4.	The latest available data for children who go missing in Hampshire, be that from home or for those in care, shows an increase in children going missing as well as an escalation in the number of missing episodes. There remains a robust and effective response from CSD and Hampshire Constabulary. Hampshire CSD have employed two specialist workers (based in Willow) who monitor missing children on a daily and weekly basis and work with district teams to ensure appropriate safeguards are in place to prevent repeat occurrences, they support return conversations and monitor the most frequent and at-risk missing children. Hampshire Constabulary, as part of a restructure, have set up a new team to address and find high risk missing children and adults. This is an important area of work and one that Ofsted gives significant scrutiny to.
	8.5.	County lines and local drug networks remain an increasing concern for Hampshire Children’s Services. All agencies and professionals contribute to tackling this form of exploitation, with more specialist work being undertaken by the Hampshire Police MET Team and the Hampshire Children’s Services specialist Willow Team. Willow is a multi-agency team consisting of specialist social workers, CFSWs, health professionals and Catch 22 substance misuse workers who all work closely with Hampshire Constabulary to protect the highest risk children.
	8.6.	Willow strives to be innovative and has won tenders for a Young Women & Girls Worker and has set up a devolved decision-making pilot for referrals coming into the National Referral Mechanism. Together with Hampshire Constabulary there is a coordinated deployment of these specialist resources to identify networks, ensuring the safeguarding of the most vulnerable children and the disruption of drug distribution activity.

	Performance and Activity Levels
	9.	Workloads, as evidenced in contacts, referrals and safeguarding activity, continue to be high with 11,517 cases open to Children’s Social Care as at the end of June 2023. The table below sets out the trends over the last five years including the source of referrals received via the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).
	10.	Contacts and referrals
	10.1.	The total number of contacts as at 31 March 2023 (170,200) is 11% higher than the total received at 31 March 2022 (153,033). This is indicative of the continuing pressures across the child protection system which is reflected nationally. With schools reopened, education has retaken its traditional position as highest referrer at 30.61%, with police in second highest referrer position (21.62%). These percentages have remained fairly consistent over the last three years. Note, as indicated by * in the table, the source of the referral is collated only for those referrals that require assessment hence the numerical discrepancy.

	11.	Section 47 (child protection) investigations and assessments
	11.1.	With regards to assessments, as can be seen in the table above, the percentage of child protection investigations (section 47 investigations) which progress to an initial child protection conference over a year, has reduced slightly in comparison to 2021-22 although the number of investigations has increased. We remain satisfied with the consistent application of thresholds both within MASH and in districts teams which has been endorsed by the positive inspection by Ofsted less than a year ago. We are confident through our quality assurance and performance work that cases requiring an Initial Child Protection Conference (ICPC) are appropriately progressed.
	11.2.	The timeliness of completing a Child and Family Assessment (C&FA) since their introduction in 2014-15, is a very positive picture given the large number of assessments undertaken over the last year. This has not fallen from the 90s for the last four years and is higher than the majority of other local authorities in the region.

	12.	Child Protection Plans (CPP)
	12.1.	As detailed above, work within the child protection planning process remains robust with numbers showing a decline from the end of March 2018, but an increase more recently due to the Covid pandemic. The previous positive reduction was considered to be as a result of more effective interventions with children and families at the Child in Need level, meaning less cases are escalated to a child protection plan because risks are addressed earlier. The increase is as a result of additional pressures on families as a result of Covid 19 due to the withdrawal of some services and leading to an increase in the complexity of cases and the cost of living crisis.
	12.2.	The number of children subject to a plan for neglect remains in the 50-70 percent (although a word of caution in that categorisation between neglect and emotional abuse can be variable, and neglect while present may not be the main presenting factor). Hampshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (HSCP) launched its Neglect Strategy in October 2016 and again in 2021, and this continues to help professionals better identify neglect.
	12.3.	A low percentage of child protection plans are lasting beyond two years (which is good as it indicates proactive work) and relatively few require a repeat plan within two years. The number of timely visits made within the required dates remains a significant strength of the service and reinforces that children are being seen and kept safe.

	13.	Full Time Children Looked After (CLA)
	13.1.	With regards to children in care, the number has increased by 130 (7.5%) over the last 12 months, however this is due to an increase in Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC). There are 1,619 CLA when we exclude UASC. UASC now make up 12.9% (239) of the total cohort, whereas 18 months ago in March 2022 this was around 6% (106) of the cohort. It should be noted that the ability to keep children safely at home through high quality social work practice has meant that the underlying trend of CLA has remained broadly static.
	13.2.	The financial cost of CLA is significantly affecting the financial challenges the Council is facing.
	13.3.	It should be noted that there is of course significant churn throughout the year of the children in care population. Nationally the picture of demand continues to outstrip the supply of placements for children in care, and the costs of placements are rising significantly. The increasing complexity of the children coming into the care system has meant additional costs associated with their placements. There is no doubt that the paucity of mental health services for some children has led to them coming into the care system. The costs (or more accurately, the price) of those placements continue to rise year on year. Significant work is carried out by our Placement Commissioning team (such as working through framework contracts and contract specification) to ensure that Hampshire achieves the best value that it can in what is an ‘overheated’ market.

	14.	Hampshire UASC Arrivals
	14.1.	As at 30 June 2023 the total number of UASC (under 18 years) looked after by Hampshire is 227. (NB the figure as at October stands at over 284.)
	14.2.	The table above shows the number of UASC Care Leavers at each period end. There has been a 69.6% increase in the number of UASC care leavers since June 2020 (233), which is to be expected given the age demographic of UASC arrivals with an average age of 17 years.
	14.3.	Since July 2016, Hampshire has been proactive in the National Transfer Scheme (NTS). The scheme became mandatory for Local Authority’s in April 2021, with an expectation that we accept 0.1% of the total child population; for Hampshire, this totals 281. Hampshire continues to adopt a proactive, forward-leaning approach to receiving children through the scheme and responding to need. This has led to a review of the working practices, most notably, the creation of two Refugee Teams in February 2023. The Refugee Teams have been receiving case allocations from NTS and ‘spontaneous arrivals’ from around the county. Running in parallel with the recruitment of practitioners, the Teams have been transferring cases from district teams, a process which is nearing its conclusion.
	14.4.	In June 2023, our care extended to 225 separated children (U18) in Hampshire and 389 care leavers.
	14.5.	The majority of the children are placed in independent fostering agency (IFA) placements and a significant number are placed outside of Hampshire, in order that we can better meet their cultural and individual needs. The age range is from 11 years old and the significant majority are males. They will need to be looked after by the local authority until they reach 18 years and will then have care leaver status with continuing support from the local authority until they are 25 years of age. Whilst the Home Office provide set funding for UASC, an Association of Directors of Children’s Services report evidenced that the funding only covers 50% of the actual costs to the local authority. It should also be noted that around 30% of UASC will not be given leave to remain in the UK and as such will have ‘no recourse to public funds’ requiring the local authority to entirely fund all of their living costs until they reach 25 years of age.
	14.6.	Given the rise in activity in respect of UASC a specialist UASC team has been set up, specifically to support UASC and former care leaver UASC in Hampshire.

	Consultation and Equalities
	15.	There is no adverse impact on equalities and no consultation is required.
	Other Key Issues
	16.	Recruitment and retention
	16.1.	The recruitment and retention of social workers continues to be a key issue. This is a national challenge which is particularly acute in the South East region.
	16.2.	The retention of children’s social workers is a significant challenge for Hampshire as it is all local authorities and can undermine the work being undertaken to bring new staff into the service. In the last 12 months, turnover amongst children’s social workers has stabilised from an increase in the previous 12 months, remaining at 20.6%. This challenge is shared by other local authorities and reflects changes in the wider recruitment market following the pandemic.
	16.3.	The Independent Review of Children’s Social Care has afforded us the opportunity to employ and use alternatively qualified professionals to support children and families. We have introduced the role of Family Practitioners who are differently qualified case-holding professionals in our statutory teams. We have had some success in recruiting differently qualified professionals, as evidenced with the Intensive Workers. This change will increase the capacity of our Qualified Social Workers across our teams.
	16.4.	There is a proactive recruitment strategy in place which utilises a positive partnership with Community Care, through regular national and local marketing targeted campaigns and advertisements. This is alongside events such as Social Work in the South, and Community Care Live.
	16.5.	We are focussing on direct recruitment of graduates from universities to our highly regarded newly qualified social worker programme, utilising the National Step Up to Social Work Programme and over the last three years have successfully supported staff through the Social Work Apprentice programme, with the first cohort graduating in August 2022. When this scheme began it was fairly unique, but most local authorities now offer similar schemes, which means it is now more difficult to recruit to cohorts.
	16.6.	Given the challenges in recruitment and retention, there is a need to be more ambitious in growing our own social workers. There is a range of highly skilled and experienced differently qualified workers currently employed within the department. We have increased our intake to the apprentice scheme from 10 to 30 per year.
	16.7.	We have increased our activity in overseas recruitment utilising an employment agency to assist in the recruitment of 25 social workers over the last year and a further 25 over the coming year.

	17.	Transforming Social Care (TSC) in Hampshire
	17.1.	Safeguarding Reports have provided an overview of what has TSC has achieved within phases 1 and 2.
	17.2.	TSC phase 3 has supported the delivery of a new system to improve the quality and consistency of Personal Education Plans (PEPs), and has undertaken several service reviews, including: Family Time Service, Virtual School, Virtual College, Volunteers Service and completed a project with the Family Connections Service.
	17.3.	TSC is focusing resource on a range of workstreams, including extending the scope and range of services delivered through the Family Help model, continuing the development of the Specialist Intensive Worker Hubs, and to ensure we are providing efficient and effective support to meet the needs of Children with Disabilities.
	17.4.	Responding to the recommendations outlined in the Care Review, TSC is leading on the development of the new Family Help model. Family Help will bring together a range of services, delivered within the community, to families across both targeted early help and children in need. The new model is set to launch in January 2024. Further detail on this transformation project can be seen below:
	Family Help
	17.5.	A key element within The Independent Review of Children's Social Care, and supported in the government paper ‘Stable Homes, Built on Love’, was the introduction of the 'Family Help' model. This model brings together a range of services delivered to families across both targeted early help and children in need.
	17.6.	The vision for Family Help is for new local, community-based teams. These teams will be sited within the community they support which will enable and facilitate easier and quicker access to services, therefore meeting the family’s needs as early as possible.
	17.7.	For Hampshire this initially means that our Family Support Service and Childrens Assessment and Safeguarding Teams will be brought together. The new Family Help model will be implemented in Hampshire from January 2024.
	Hampshire’s model is being developed within a phased and iterative approach:
	Phase 1.1 – The introduction in January 2023 of a new differently qualified case holding role, that of the Family Practitioner. These workers have initially been recruited in CAST and will transition into the new Family Help teams in January 2024.
	Phase 1.2 - Has focused on the development of Family Help teams; there will be 34 in total, each geographically sited to cover specific wards within districts. The aligned of these teams within specific areas will enable the delivery of local support as prescribed in the government paper 'Stable Homes Built on Love’.
	17.8.	The vision is to further develop the model and to bring other social care teams and services together into wider Family Help service, creating a seamless journey for families as their needs and levels of risks change.
	17.9.	The new model is being developed on the basis that there will be positive impacts and outcomes for children and their families:
		More children remain safely at home.
		Families will receive the right support, by the right professional for the right amount of time.
		Families will experience fewer transition points with professionals ‘stepping into’ a family as needs require rather than moving a family onto a new team or service.
		Families will be able to access services more easily as they will be within their local community, ultimately delivered through community hubs with partners which will facilitate the de-stigmatisation of families seeking support.

	18.	Youth Justice Service
	18.1.	During the last year Hampshire Youth Justice Service (HYJS) has continued to deliver youth justice and youth crime prevention to the children of Hampshire.
	18.2.	Progress against last year’s plan is as follows:
		Developing further the participation of children in our service.
		Ensuring all staff have an awareness of the actions they need to take to address any disproportionate representation of children from other minority ethnic groups.
		Reducing the number of first-time entrants to the criminal justice system to its lowest point ever.
		Developed practice in relation to the assessment of risk of harm to others.

	19.	The delivery plan for 2023/24 includes:
		Continuing to build on progress this year in the participation of children in Youth Justice.
		In partnership, tackling serious youth violence.
		Continuing to develop Youth Diversionary activity.
		Widen our work on disproportionality to include other diverse groups.

	20.	Sector Led Improvement
	20.1.	For many years, Hampshire has a strong reputation for being a leading provider of sector led social work improvement, support and advice to other local authorities across the region, nationally and internationally.  This work is commissioned from three main sources. Hampshire successfully bid to be a part of the Department for Education’s Sector Led Improvement Programme (SLIP) from 2021-24, one of a handful of local authorities nationally providing social work improvement advice and expertise. Our SLIP work over this past year has supported improvement in several authorities including Buckinghamshire, West Sussex, Southampton (all of whom now have improved Ofsted inspection ratings), Reading and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP). Secondly. Hampshire co-ordinates and leads the sector led improvement peer support improvement work through the South East Sector Led Improvement Partnership (SESLIP), comprising all nineteen authorities in the south east. In addition to the SLIP and SESLIP work, Hampshire has continued to work with the Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) to undertake some specific social work improvement support with the British Overseas Territories. Currently this work is ongoing with St Helena, Ascension Island and Tristan da Cunha.
	20.2.	Given the increased demand in Hampshire Children’s Services which reflects the increase nationally, careful consideration will need to be given to our future support of other Local Authorities to ensure that it does not adversely impact on the children of Hampshire. A small central team of social work managers has been established with the income from this work, to support capacity in this area. As with all work undertaken in other authorities, there is always positive learning gained to further improve services in Hampshire. The benefits to Hampshire are significant and enable both staff and services in Hampshire to be continuously improved. Ofsted commented in 2019 that, ‘Leaders recognise the benefits that come from being an improvement partner, not only in creating income, but also in the learning that is gained from other local authorities and from keeping its own staff stimulated and stretched’.

	Future Challenges and Operational Priorities
	21.	The future challenges and priorities can be summarised as follows (this is not an exhaustive list and the history of this type of work is that new priorities will continue to emerge in much the same as child exploitation and county lines):
	21.1.	The full long-term impact of the pandemic is not yet known. Children’s social care have seen a sustained increase in referrals over the last 2 years of over 30% compared to pre-pandemic levels. It is not yet known how long that will continue but experience shows us this might now be the new normal level of demand going forward. At this stage the increase in demand has not led to a similar increase in the numbers of children coming into care due to the effective practice of our front-line staff and the success of our transformation activity.
	21.2.	The costs associated with the placements for looked after children will continue to be a significant pressure for the County Council. Significant additional corporate funding has already been given to the department, but as demand increases and the supply of placements comes under further pressure, inevitably costs will rise. Our Modernising Placements Programme aims to increase our numbers of Hampshire County Council foster carers, thereby reducing costs in the longer term.
	21.3.	It should be noted that the challenges faced within the placement market are significant. There are well acknowledged shortfalls in available beds both within the secure welfare estate and in Tier 4 psychiatric provision which compound the issue for social care. In terms of residential provision, demand is outstripping current supply which is resulting in escalating pricing and providers able to select from a multitude of referrals for each available bed, with a local provider referencing over 100 referrals per available bed. The Competitions and Market Authority report identifies the inflated profit margins within external placement suppliers. Hampshire is fortunate to have in house provision, which regularly supports the most hard to place young people but the placements issue remains a significant challenge.
	21.4.	It is essential that our transformation work continues at pace to keep more children at home, where it is safe and appropriate to do so. Transforming children’s social care will deliver a modern social work service fit for the future challenges over the next decade. Where children do come into care, our Modernising Placements Programme, will ensure children have the right placement to meet their needs.
	21.5.	Child exploitation, in all its forms, continues to be an increasing area of work, particularly the ‘County Lines’ issues. Although Hampshire is well placed to meet these challenges, it is important that we remain vigilant and responsive, working in tandem with partners to protect children.
	21.6.	The recruitment and retention of social workers will continue to need to be addressed.

	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	22.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	23.	Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation. The carbon mitigation and climate change adaptation tools were not applicable because this report is to provide details of Children’s Services safeguarding activity and does not recommend changes or require any decisions which would have any climate change considerations. However, this does link to other strategic priorities as listed in the relevant section at the end of the document. Children’s Services are aware of the importance of climate change and plan for this in new projects.
	24.	Carbon Mitigation. The carbon mitigation and climate change adaptation tools were not applicable because this report is to provide details of the contribution of Children’s Services safeguarding activity and does not recommend changes or require any decisions which would have any climate change considerations. This report is not relevant as above. Children’s Services regularly feedback to the Corporate Climate Change Action Plan.
	Conclusions
	25.	Throughout 2022/23 there continued to be a highly effective strategic response to the safeguarding of vulnerable children and a robust operational response, tested via external validation from the Ofsted inspection in November 2021 and February 2022.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:


	7 Graduate Entry Training Scheme
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to provide the Children and Families Advisory Panel with an updated outline of the two-year Graduate Entry Training Scheme (GETS) for newly qualified social workers joining Children’s Services and to highlight a change in the allocation of shadowing days required given recent new initiatives in the service.
	Recommendation
	2.	That the Children and Families Advisory Panel note the contents of this report.
	Executive Summary
	3.	This report seeks to present an update on the first two years of learning and development for newly qualified social workers joining Children’s Services as part of the Graduate Entry Training Scheme (GETS).
	4.	Given the recent changes in the development of the service including the move towards the Family Help model and a greater desire for awareness and integration between all elements of the service there have been changes to the programme to ensure awareness of all service areas is covered during the two year training programme.
	Contextual information
	5.	The Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE) is an employer-led induction programme for Newly Qualified Social Workers during their first year of employment. It is a Department of Education programme which is currently overseen by Skills for Care.
	6.	In Hampshire Childrens Services, the programme was launched as the Graduate Entry Training Scheme (GETS) and has been in place since August 2017. During the past six years, 374 newly qualified social workers (NQSW’s) have successfully completed the programme. Between March 2022 to August 2023, we received 393 applications and interviewed 169 NQSWs, with 75% of applications coming from regional universities.
	7.	Following the introduction of GETS in August 2017, the Consolidation and Reflection Programme (CRP) was developed and implemented in 2018 as the second year of GETS, commencing once a Social Worker has completed their ASYE.  Although CRP was updated throughout its four years, in August 2022 the programme was revamped and rebranded to become the Professional Development Year (PDY) with an approach centred around a more individualised learning plan with a deliberate strategy of placing more of the ownership for their own learning on the individual and marking a change in the amount and level of support provided by Learning & Development and their Practice Educator.
	8.	The GETS is now a two-year programme designed to support NQSW’s joining Hampshire Childrens Services. It aims to build the skills and knowledge required to successfully complete the Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE) during the first year and the PDY during the second year.
	9.	The Year 1 programme comprises a four-week induction of blended learning activities (see Appendix 1) followed by an induction into the District, controlled case load numbers, regular supervision from both Team Managers and Practice Educators, development days, direct observations and shadowing experiences. Each NQSW is required to complete a portfolio of evidence which is then assessed at the 12-month period leading to a final assessment of pass/fail.
	10.	When the NQSW transfers to the District following their initial induction with Learning & Development, the first six month period is regarded as a secondment phase with the NQSW. Management responsibility falls to the Team Manager of the NQSW’s allocated team. During secondment the NQSW’s position is supernumerary to the team which allows the NQSW to have protected caseloads and learning and development time.
	11.	Following successful completion of the first six-month period, and at the point where the post becomes substantive, there had previously been an opportunity for the NQSW to change teams (usually only happening because of exceptional circumstances). This ‘unique selling point’ had previously been advertised in the recruitment and marketing materials targeting NQSW’s.
	12.	The six-month secondment phase had also provided the opportunity for Districts to go over-establishment with GETS workers prior to them gaining a permanent post at the six month point.
	13.	Recently a decision was taken to withdraw the opportunity for a NQSW to change teams at the six-month point. As from September 1st 2023, the NQSW remains in the same team for the completion of the ASYE following the shift from extra to establishment to permanent.
	14.	The consequence of this means that unless a District has vacancies at the point at which the NQSW worker is first appointed, a District will not be able to take a GETS worker.
	15.	During the first two weeks in District, an induction period should be planned by the TM/ATM/buddy in conjunction with the NQSW. During this period, it is not expected that the NQSW solo works or has an allocated case load.
	16.	Following the two-week induction period into the District, NQSW’s will have a protected case load of up to 10 cases (children) until the three-month review and 15 cases (children) up to the 6 month review.
	17.	For the remainder of the ASYE, the NQSW will be allocated up to 18 cases (children) which may go up to 20 during intake week.
	18.	In the first 12 months, the NQSW is provided with 11 study days (protected time) to ensure completion of the portfolio. Further development days are provided over the course of the ASYE year including Court Skills Training (see Appendix 2 for full list) and there is an expectation that an ASYE must attend this training.
	19.	During the ASYE, there is a requirement to undertake 5 shadowing days with other agencies and teams to include a day with MASH.
	20.	Recently, it has been agreed to add a 6th shadowing experience with a requirement that the NQSW spends a day in a residential children’s home.
	21.	A recent requirement from the Modernising Placements Programme work was also to require all NQSW’s undertake a shadowing day in Swanwick Lodge and one in the fostering service.
	22.	Therefore, we will require NQSW’s to take their 6 shadowing days as follows:
	1 Day: MASH
	1 Day: Residential Children’s Home
	1 Day: Swanwick Lodge
	1 Day: Fostering Service
	2 Days: NQSW Free Choice (they can choose and organise where they spend this day; may include Police, Adoption, PCT, Willow, Refugee, CAST/CIC/DCT, YOT etc)
	23.	Upon successful completion of the ASYE year, NQSW’s will progress onto the Professional Development Year (PDY). During this phase, they will complete Personal Development Plans (PDP) and undertake more in-depth consideration of key issues via peer groups and reflective circles. In year 2, during the first six months, caseloads should not exceed 20 and will be expected to increase to a maximum of 25 (in line with the expected caseload of other social workers) by the end of year 2.
	24.	As with year 1, there is a requirement for social workers in their PDY year to attend specific pieces of training (please see Appendix 3).
	Finance
	28.	There are no direct finance implications for this report.
	Performance
	29.	By allocating some of the shadowing days to specific teams/services this will provide the NQSW’s with a greater understanding and alignment with those services and help improve the culture of working across Children & Families in line with our strategic objectives.
	Consultation and Equalities
	30.	The GETS programme is inclusive and takes a bespoke approach to individual’s needs including advice and support on access to work, accessing staff networks.
	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	31.	The carbon mitigation tool and/or climate change adaptation tool were not applicable because this report outlines a programme which is strategic/administrative in nature.
	Conclusions
	32.	In conclusion, this paper explains the history of and current two-year GETS programme for NQSW’s coming into the service.
	33.	It outlines that from the current 6 shadowing days 4 days are allocated to MASH, a Residential Children’s Home, Swanwick Lodge and the Fostering Service with the NQSW deciding where the remaining 2 days are spent. This balances the requirements of the organisation with some flexibility depending on the individual and their learning needs.
	Appendix 1 – Example timetable for first 4-week Induction period
	Appendix 2
	Additional Training required during the ASYE Year (Year 1)
	•	Introduction to Legal Processes
	•	Engaging Fathers
	•	Toolkit for Resilience: Session 2
	•	Principle Social Worker Talk & Resilience session
	•	Competency in Court Training; a blended module, with two development days, to be diarised by the NQSW which is for preparation of their SWET statement for mock court
	•	Children in Care: Education - Making a difference
	Appendix 3
	Additional Training required during the Professional Development Year (Year 2)
	•	Introduction to the Professional Development Year – SWAY
	•	Identity and the Child’s Voice – Face to Face
	•	The Impact of the Digital World - webinar
	•	Supporting Children in Care – SWAY
	•	Working with Resistance and Disguised Compliance – webinar
	•	HSCP  - An introduction to recognising and responding to perpetrators of domestic abuse – eLearning
	•	Peer Group Sessions – webinar
	•	Other Training/Learning Opportunities
	•	Celebration Session

	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	Equalities Impact Assessment:


	8 Hockley House
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Context
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Timelines
	Slide 5: Questions


